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Record References 

The record consists of the Clerk’s Record and the Reporter’s Record. 

References to the Clerk’s Record are indicated by the letters “CR” 

followed by the referenced page number(s).  References to the Reporter’s 

Record are indicated by the letters “RR” followed by the referenced page 

number(s). 

Statement Regarding Oral Argument 

Under Rule 4.06 of the Internal Procedural Rules of the Board of 

Disciplinary Appeals, Appellant Vy Thuan Nguyen respectfully requests 

oral argument.  

Statement of Jurisdiction 

The Board of Disciplinary Appeals has jurisdiction over this appeal 

under Rule 2.23 of the Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure, and Rules 

1.02 and 4.01 of the Internal Procedural Rules of the Board of 

Disciplinary Appeals. 
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Statement of the Case 

The Commission for Lawyer Discipline (“CFLD”) filed a petition 

against Appellant Vy Thuan Nguyen (“Nguyen”) based on five unrelated 

grievance complaints filed by five unrelated complainants regarding five 

unrelated matters.  All of the complaints were heard together on May 8, 

2024 in a one-day, remote evidentiary hearing conducted by Zoom and 

telephonic connection, after which the Evidentiary Panel found 

misconduct with regard to certain allegations; found no misconduct with 

regard to other allegations; and imposed a sanction of disbarment and 

payment of the CFLD’s attorney’s fees.  Nguyen requested findings of fact 

and conclusions of law, which the Panel entered, and filed a motion for 

new trial, which the Panel denied.  Nguyen timely appealed. 

Issues Presented 

Nguyen presents the following issues for review, including any sub-

issues or related issues that may reasonably be considered in connection 

with the following issues. 

1. Whether conducting a remote (by Zoom and 
telephonic connection) evidentiary hearing was a 
structural error requiring automatic reversal. 
 

2. Whether the Panel’s decision to limit the trial of 
five unrelated complaints, each requiring 
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completely different evidence, to a single day was 
arbitrary and an abuse of discretion. 
 

3. Whether the Panel’s refusing to order separate 
evidentiary hearings on the five unrelated 
complaints made the basis of the CFLD’s petition 
was an abuse of discretion. 
 

4. Whether the Panel’s cumulative errors in 
conducting a remote evidentiary hearing, limiting 
the hearing on five unrelated grievance complaints 
to one day, and refusing to hold separate hearings 
on the unrelated complaints requires reversal.  
 

5. Whether the Panel abused its discretion by 
imposing excessive sanctions against Nguyen. 
 

  



 
3 
 

Statement of Facts 

A. Nguyen. 

Nguyen has been licensed and practicing law in Texas for more 

than 16 years. RR 269.  She has been admitted to practice in many 

immigration courts and federal courts, in addition to the courts of the 

State of Texas, and has primarily represented clients in Harris, Bell, and 

Travis Counties. Id.  Nguyen sits on the Unauthorized Practice of Law 

Committee. Id.  She is proud of her Vietnamese heritage and remains 

active in the Vietnamese community of Houston. Id.  Nguyen has served 

as a mentor to several young lawyers hired out of law school. RR 269-

270. 

B. The CFLD’s Petition And The Evidentiary Hearing. 

The CFLD filed its Petitioner’s Original Petition (the “Petition”) 

against Nguyen on August 31, 2023. CR 125.  The Petition alleged 

disciplinary rule violations based on five unrelated grievance complaints 

filed by five unrelated complainants regarding five unrelated matters. 

CR 132.  The complainants were: (1) Trang Lau; (2) Cody Martin; (3) Billy 

Joe Parrish; (4) Kyle Kraesig; and (5) Jason Nasra. Id. 
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On May 8, 2024, the Panel conducted a one-day, remote evidentiary 

hearing on all five of the unrelated grievance complaints.  

C. The Trang Lau Complaint. 

With respect to Trang Lau (“Lau”), the CFLD alleged that, on 

September 1, 2021, Lau hired Nguyen to represent her in a child-support 

modification matter for which Lau paid Nguyen a $1,500 retainer. CR 

126-127.  The CFLD alleged that, after Nguyen was hired, she failed to 

respond to Lau’s phone calls and emails requesting information and 

status updates on the matter. Id.  The CFLD also alleged that Nguyen 

did not timely file a response to the grievance complaint filed by Lau. Id.  

Lau testified that she had initially hired Nguyen to handle child-

support modification matters and, subsequently, in connection with a 

parental termination case. RR 58.  According to Lau, during Nguyen’s 

first year of the representation, Nguyen’s communication with her was 

poor and, at one point, Lau wrote a letter to Nguyen terminating her 

representation and requesting a refund of the $1,500 fee. RR 60-61, 64.  

Lau testified that, when Nguyen did not timely respond to Lau’s request 

for a refund, Lau “felt like I needed to report Vy to the State Bar for not 

responding.” RR 64-65.  
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Lau testified that, after she filed her complaint with the Bar, her 

communications with Nguyen substantially improved and she decided 

not to terminate Nguyen. RR 65-66.  She also testified that she no longer 

desires to prosecute her complaint against Nguyen. RR 68.  Lau testified 

that, when she filed her grievance complaint, she thought the State Bar 

would simply instruct Nguyen that she needed to have better 

communications with Lau and was not aware that Nguyen could be 

disbarred or suspended from practicing law on the basis of her complaint. 

Id.  Lau testified that she did not want Nguyen to lose her license or the 

ability to practice law. RR 66-67.  Lau stated that, as of the date of the 

evidentiary hearing, she was pleased with Nguyen’s representation and 

wanted Nguyen to continue to represent her. Id. 

Nguyen conceded that she had probably been “spread too thin” 

during the 2021-2022 timeframe, which may have accounted for any 

failure to adequately communicate with Lau. RR 210.  Nguyen further 

stated that she wanted to “take accountability” for her lack of 

communication with Lau, but was pleased that Lau is now satisfied with 

her representation and wants her to continue it. Id.  
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D. The Cody Martin Complaint. 

With respect to Cody Martin (“Martin”), the CFLD alleged that, on 

April 12, 2022, Nguyen failed to remit $3,500 from her IOLTA account to 

Martin, who was Nguyen’s opposing counsel in a divorce matter. CR 126-

127.  The CFLD alleged that the $3,500 was for attorney’s fees that the 

divorce court ordered Nguyen to pay to Martin, but Nguyen failed or 

refused to pay the money and subsequently failed to appear for hearing 

set by Martin on a motion to enforce the order awarding his attorney’s 

fees. CR 127. 

Martin testified that Nguyen had represented to Martin and 

Martin’s client (the husband) that she had $3,500 from her client (the 

wife) in her IOLTA account and that those funds would be used to pay 

the attorney’s fees agreed to in an agreed order to be submitted to the 

court in the divorce proceeding. RR 30-31.  Martin testified that, after the 

order was entered by the court, Nguyen did not pay him the $3,500 

despite calls and emails requesting the money. RR 31.  He testified that 

he filed a motion with the court to enforce the attorney’s fees award, but 

that Nguyen failed to appear for the hearing. RR 31.  Martin stated that 

he felt his only practical recourse was to file a grievance complaint 
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against Nguyen because he knew that he would not be able to obtain an 

order garnishing funds in Nguyen’s IOLTA account. RR 31-32.   

Nguyen testified that she did not pay the money because it was 

withdrawn from her IOLTA account by the financing company that her 

client had borrowed money from to pay Nguyen’s attorney’s fees, Fresh 

Start Funding (“Fresh Start”). RR 205-206.  She explained that her 

client’s agreement with Fresh Start entitled Fresh Start to have access 

to the funds for purposes of a “drawback” in the event the client failed to 

make her monthly payments and that is in fact what had happened with 

regard to the $3,500. Id.  Nguyen testified that her fees had also not been 

paid by her client. RR 206-207.  Nguyen pointed out that the motion to 

enforce that Martin filed was only against Nguyen’s client—not 

Nguyen—even though the motion was filed after the hearing at which 

the order to pay Martin’s attorney’s fees had been entered. Id.  

E. The Billy Joe Parrish Complaint. 

With respect to Billy Joe Parrish (“Parrish”), the CFLD alleged 

that, on February 5, 2020, Parrish hired Nguyen to obtain proof of his 

citizenship so that he could renew his commercial driver’s license. CR 

126.  The CFLD alleged that, during the representation, Nguyen failed 
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to respond to Parrish’s phone calls and emails requesting information 

and status updates, and failed to file documents or make headway in the 

matter. Id.  Parrish did not attend the hearing to testify because, 

according to his wife Tammy Parrish (“Tammy”), Parrish understood that 

he was to be available for the Zoom hearing at 9:00 a.m. and he had to 

leave for work before he was notified to log into the hearing at 

approximately 12:40 p.m. RR 122, 143.  While Tammy testified, she did 

not have any paperwork pertaining to the representation at the time.  

Tammy testified that Parrish was born in Germany and was 

adopted by a United States serviceman there, but had been in the United 

States since he was approximately 18 months old. RR 125.  She stated 

that he had applied for a routine renewal of his commercial driver’s 

license for his work with a trucking firm, but was informed that he 

needed proof of citizenship that he did not have.  As a result, Parrish 

contacted Nguyen to investigate the matter and, if necessary, assist him 

in applying for citizenship. RR 125-128.  According to Tammy, during 

their first discussion, Nguyen said that it would be a “piece of cake” 

because Parrish and/or Tammy had already done most of the work to 

gather necessary documents. RR 128.  Tammy testified that she and 
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Parrish presented Nguyen an adoption decree, a social security card that 

Parrish had obtained, and some other documents reflecting Parrish’s 

high school attendance. RR 145-146.  Tammy testified that they paid 

Nguyen $1,750 for the representation, but over the following three years 

Nguyen neither obtained proof of Parrish’s citizenship nor applied for 

citizenship on his behalf. RR 130.  Tammy testified that Nguyen failed to 

respond to emails, calls, and text messages. RR 135.  

Tammy further testified that on at least one occasion she was 

informed by Nguyen that the U.S. Citizenship and Immigration Services 

(USCIS) was backlogged due to the COVID shutdown and was not 

answering the phones or the online customer service portal. RR 145.  

Ultimately, Tammy and Parrish contacted another attorney who 

recommended that Parrish not pursue obtaining citizenship but, because 

of Parrish’s age, apply for a green card instead. RR 137-138.  

After Parrish retained the new attorney and authorized him to 

proceed, Parrish received a green card.  Tammy testified that, although 

Parrish had retained Nguyen to obtain citizenship, Nguyen did not 

explain the option of just filing for a green card instead. RR 171.  Tammy 
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testified that, because of the delay, Parrish eventually lost his job. RR 

140.  

Nguyen pointed out that the date she was retained by Parrish, 

February 5, 2020, was just a few weeks before the national COVID 

shutdown. RR 145.  Nguyen testified that, at the first meeting with 

Parrish, she explained to him and Tammy that, if his adoptive father 

brought Parrish with him when he returned to the United States, there 

should be some record of his adoption and naturalization with the USCIS 

if he entered the country as the adoptive child of a United States 

servicemember. RR 227.  The adoption decree indicated that Parrish had 

been adopted in Germany, and Nguyen explained that there should also 

be a record of his naturalization because he would have required a 

passport to enter the United States with his adoptive father. RR 226-227.  

It was unclear to Nguyen how Parrish would have obtained a social 

security card without having been naturalized when he entered the 

country as a child. RR 227-229.  Nguyen explained that, because it had 

occurred more than 50 years earlier, she would have to research the laws 

in effect when he originally entered the country and try to find out if any 

naturalization paperwork had ever been filed on his behalf. RR 227-228.  
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Nguyen’s initial goal was to ascertain whether Parrish was ever 

naturalized and, if not, what naturalization proceedings may have been 

initiated on his behalf. Id.  Nguyen recommended filing a Freedom of 

Information Act request to locate any missing information that might 

explain whether and why Parrish never obtained citizenship. RR 229-

231.  Eventually Nguyen informed Tammy that it did not appear that 

Parrish had sufficient information to purse an N400 Application for 

Naturalization. RR 172.  Nguyen testified that she did her best to try to 

find a way for Parrish to obtain his naturalization (citizenship), 

understanding that is what Parrish had requested. RR 231-232.  

F. The Kyle Kraesig Complaint. 

With respect to Kyle Kraesig (“Kraesig”), the CFLD alleged that, on 

July 28, 2021, Kraesig hired Nguyen to represent him in a divorce 

proceeding and paid her a retainer of $1,800. CR 127.  The CFLD alleged 

that, after Kraesig agreed to a mediated settlement agreement in the 

divorce case, he asked Nguyen questions about it and Nguyen failed to 

explain the matter to him to the extent necessary to allow him to make 

informed decisions. Id.  The CFLD alleged that, although the divorce was 
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finalized on May 25, 2022, Nguyen failed to timely inform Kraesig of the 

entry of the decree or respond to his earlier requests for information. Id. 

Kraesig testified that another lawyer from Nguyen’s office attended 

the mediation with him in January 2022, where the settlement 

agreement was signed. RR 78-80; see also Petitioner’s Misconduct Exhibit 

6.  Kraesig said that, after the mediation, he tried to contact Nguyen 

about certain terms of the settlement agreement, but that she did not 

respond. RR 81.  Kraesig admitted, however, that he does not have copies 

of any of the text messages he claims were sent to Nguyen and not 

responded to. RR 99-100.  Kraesig also admitted that he did in fact briefly 

communicate with Nguyen by text messages and occasional phone calls. 

RR 81. 

In particular, Kraesig testified that he had asked Nguyen how he 

would receive the portion of funds payable under the settlement by way 

of a qualified domestic relations order (QDRO) that split a portion of his 

wife’s accrued retirement plan interest. RR 82. Kraesig testified that he 

asked Nguyen whether there was anything in particular he should not 

do or say when he went to the marital residence to retrieve various items 

and his pet cat. RR 82-83.  Kraesig testified that he was not aware that 
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the final divorce decree pursuant to the settlement had been entered by 

the court until several months after it was signed. RR 85-86.  Kraesig 

also claimed that Nguyen had promised to send him his file, but did not. 

RR 91. 

Nguyen testified that she did discuss Kraesig’s question about the 

QRDO with him. RR 216-217, 245-246.  And although she presented no 

documentary evidence that she had sent the signed divorce decree or file 

to Kraesig, she testified that she recalled requesting her staff to assemble 

Kraesig’s file materials and believes they were sent to him. Id; RR 224.  

She also stated that, like other family lawyers she knows, she informs 

clients that they may obtain copies of their decrees online from the 

District Clerk’s office and that, if they require a certified copy, she will 

obtain one for a fee. RR 223-224.  Nguyen pointed out that Kraesig had 

only presented to the Panel with five emails he sent to her, and that four 

of the five reflected that Nguyen had responded to him. RR 111-114. 

G. The Jason Nasra Complaint.   

With respect to Jason Nasra (“Nasra”), the CFLD alleged that 

Nasra hired Nguyen in December 2021 to represent him in a child 

custody modification proceeding. CR 128.  The CFLD alleged that, during 
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her representation, Nguyen missed deadlines and failed to respond to 

opposing counsel’s attempts to confer to schedule a mediation. Id.  The 

CFLD alleged that Nguyen failed to keep Nasra informed of the status of 

the matter, failed to respond to his inquiries, and failed to explain the 

matter to Nasra to the extent necessary for him to make informed 

decisions. Id.   The CFLD also claimed that Nguyen had failed to properly 

account for Nasra’s retainer, failed to return his file, and failed to timely 

respond to his grievance complaint. RR 128-129. 

Nasra failed to appear to testify at the evidentiary hearing, and the 

CFLD abandoned all allegations based on his complaint, except the 

allegation that Nguyen failed to timely respond to it. RR 261-262.  

H. The Testimony Of The SBOT Investigator.    

The CFLD called a State Bar of Texas investigator, Orlando Mayers 

(“Mayers”), to testify regarding Nguyen’s prior disciplinary history.  

Mayers testified that Nguyen failed to file timely responses to the Lau, 

Martin, and Nasra grievance complaints, and certain others unrelated to 

this proceeding. RR 187-188, 197.  Mayers stated that he has known and 

worked with Nguyen over the years in connection with certain grievance 

complaints against her, some of which he recommended be dismissed. RR 
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194-196.  Mayers also testified that he has referred a client to Nguyen on 

at least one occasion. Id.   

Nguyen testified that she had been dealing with a number of 

complaints that had recently been filed around the same time period, but 

she had not failed to respond to all of the complaints alleged by Mayers. 

RR 249.  She conceded that she may have failed to timely respond to 

certain complaints but that, after William Nichols as counsel for the 

State Bar of Texas identified the complaints to which a response was 

required, she filed answers to those complaints. Id.  

I. The Panel’s Decision.  

After the conclusion of the evidentiary hearing, the Panel 

announced the following decision. RR 276-277. 

Lau.  With respect to the allegations based on Lau’s complaint, the 

Panel found that Nguyen violated Rules 1.03(a) and 8.04(a)(8) by failing 

to keep Lau reasonably informed, failing to comply with requests for 

information, and failing to timely respond to Lau’s complaint. CR 219; 

RR 276-277. 

Martin.  With respect to the allegations based on Martin’s 

complaint, the Panel found that the CFLD did not establish that Nguyen 
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had failed to hold trust funds separate from her own, did not establish 

that Nguyen failed to promptly deliver funds that a third person was 

entitled to receive, did not establish that Nguyen took a position that 

unreasonably increased costs or delay, and did not establish that Nguyen 

knowingly disobeyed a court order. CR 277.  But the Panel found that 

Nguyen violated Rule 8.04(a)(8) by failing to timely respond to Martin’s 

complaint. CR 219, 277.  

Parrish.  With respect to the allegations based on Parrish’s 

complaint, the Panel found that the CFLD did not establish that Nguyen 

accepted or continued employment in a matter which she knew was 

beyond her competence. CR 276.  Yet the Panel concluded that Nguyen 

violated Rules 1.01(b)(1), 1.01(b)(2), and 1.03(a) by neglecting a matter 

entrusted to her, frequently failing to carry out completely her 

obligations to Parrish, and failing to keep Parrish reasonably informed 

and promptly respond to his inquiries. CR 219, 276. 

Kraesig.  With respect to the allegations based on Kraesig’s 

complaint, the Panel found that the CFLD did not establish that Nguyen 

failed to explain a matter to the extent necessary to allow Kraesig to 

make informed decisions. CR 277.  The Panel nevertheless concluded 
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that Nguyen violated Rule 1.03(a) by failing to keep Kraesig reasonably 

informed about the status of his case and failing to promptly comply with 

requests for information. CR 219, 277.  

Nasra.  With respect to the allegations based on Nasra’s complaint, 

the Panel found only that Nguyen violated Rule 8.04(a)(8) by failing to 

timely respond to Nasra’s complaint. CR 219, 278. 

Sanctions.  The Panel determined that the sanctions for Nguyen 

were disbarment and the payment of attorney’s fees and costs in the 

amount of $4,487.50. CR 235, 237.  The Panel stated that it had 

concluded “[t]he sanction of disbarment was found with respect to each 

individual violation set forth in [its] Findings of Fact…and was not the 

result of aggregating or combining any of the [individual] violations….”1 

CR 234. 

J. Post-Hearing Filings.  

On May 30, 2024, Nguyen timely filed a Request for Findings of 

Fact and Conclusions of Law. CR 240.  On June 3, 2024, Nguyen timely 

filed her Motion for New Trial.2 CR 243-245.  On June 12, 2024, the Panel 

 
1 This includes Findings of Fact numbers 4, 5, 6, 8, 9, 10, 12 and 17. 
2 The motion is titled “Motion for New Evidentiary Hearing on the Merits or, 
Alternatively, Motion for New Sanctions Hearing.” 
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signed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, signed Amended 

Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, and denied Nguyen’s Motion 

for New Trial. CR 265.  On August 2, 2024, Nguyen timely filed her 

Notice of Appeal. CR 285.  

Argument and Authorities 

A. The Remote Hearing Conducted By The Panel Was 
Unauthorized And Constituted Structural Error Requiring 
Reversal. 

The Panel conducted the May 8, 2024 evidentiary hearing 

telephonically and by remote video link such that neither the Panel nor 

any of the parties or nor any of the witnesses were present in the same 

room (i.e. a virtual trial). CR 152, 275.  Although the Panel Chairman 

had notified Nguyen that the hearing would be “conducted by a video and 

tele-conference connection,” the Chairman did not request Nguyen’s 

consent to a remote evidentiary hearing. CR 154-156.  Nor did Nguyen 

give her consent to a remote hearing.   

Neither the Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure nor the Internal 

Procedural Rules of the Board of Disciplinary Appeals (the “Board 

Rules”) permit remote proceedings for evidentiary hearings. Indeed, in 

the circumstance where remote hearings are permitted by the Rules, the 
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Rules expressly say so. For example, Rule 2.12, which governs 

investigatory hearings, states that “the hearing…may be conducted by 

teleconference.” Tex. R Disc. Proc. 2.12(F).  But Rule 2.17, which governs 

evidentiary hearings, contains no similar provision and does not permit 

the hearing to be conducted by video, telephonically, or otherwise 

remotely. Tex. R. Disc. Proc. 2.17. 

As a basic rule of construction followed by the Supreme Court of 

Texas, which promulgated the Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure, the 

express authority for remote participation in investigatory hearings but 

not in evidentiary hearings means that evidentiary hearings may not be 

conducted remotely. See, e.g., City of Houston v. Bates, 406 S.W.3d 539, 

549 (Tex. 2013) (presuming that the omission of a provision contained 

within similar statutes was intentional and indicated that the provision 

was not applicable); Quick v. City of Austin, 7 S.W.3d 109, 123 (Tex. 1998) 

(same). 

It makes sense that investigatory hearings may be conducted 

remotely, but evidentiary hearings may not.  At an investigatory hearing, 

a lawyer’s livelihood is not at stake because the lawyer may not be 

sanctioned absent the lawyer’s agreement to the sanction: 
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An investigatory hearing may result in a Sanction 
negotiated with the Respondent or in the Chief 
Disciplinary Counsel’s dismissing the Complaint 
of finding Just Cause.  The terms of a negotiated 
Sanction must be in a written judgment with 
findings of fact and conclusions of law.  The 
judgment must be entered into the record by the 
chair of the Investigatory Panel and signed by the 
Chief Disciplinary Counsel and the Respondent. 
   

Tex. R. Disc. Proc. 2.12(G) (emphasis added). 

 If the lawyer chooses not to accept a sanction recommended at an 

investigatory hearing, then she may elect to proceed to a trial in district 

court or to an evidentiary hearing before an Evidentiary Panel of a 

grievance committee, where she has structural due process rights such 

as the right to appear in-person before the trier of fact and the right to 

confront her accuser(s) and other witnesses in-person. Tex. R. Disc. Proc. 

2.15. 

Even the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure prohibit remote hearings 

in which oral testimony is presented, absent agreement of the parties or 

good cause: 

A court must not require: 

(A) a party or lawyer to appear electronically 
for a court proceeding in which oral 
testimony is heard, absent good cause or the 
agreement of the parties; or 
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(B) a lawyer, party, or juror to appear 
electronically for a jury trial, absent the 
agreement of the parties. 

Tex. R. Civ. P. 21d(b)(2) (emphasis added). 

In enacting the Rules of Civil Procedure, the Supreme Court of 

Texas recognized that there are inherent disadvantages to remote 

evidentiary hearings relative to traditional in-person evidentiary 

hearings, and that parties should not be deprived of the benefit of a 

traditional in-person evidentiary hearing absent agreement or good 

cause. Tex. R. Civ. P. 21d(b)(2). The disadvantages and probable 

unfairness of evidentiary proceedings being conducted remotely are 

widely recognized in the behavioral sciences as well.  Experts in these 

fields have concluded, among other things, the following with respect to 

the use of remote evidentiary proceedings: 

[S]tandard videoconferencing platforms make 
normal eye contact difficult, if not impossible.  If 
someone appears to be looking at you, he almost 
certainly isn't, because he must be looking at the 
camera instead.  And if the person appears to be 
looking at you, everyone else looking at their 
respective screens has the same impression, so 
that it is impossible for any one participant to 
appear to be looking uniquely at any other.  This 
lack of mutual, reciprocal gaze has been found to 
make people evaluate others encountered on video 
as less likeable (and less intelligent) than those 
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encountered face-to-face, which may, in turn, 
lessen their inclination to empathize with the 
other.  Relatedly, it may negatively influence 
evaluations of credibility and assessments of 
remorse, both of which are often affected by the 
presence or absence of direct eye contact. 
  

Susan A. Bandes & Neal Feigenson, Essay: Empathy and Remote Legal 

Proceedings, 51 Sw. L. Rev. 20, 31 (2021).  

Here, no finding of good cause for conducting a remote evidentiary 

hearing was made by the Panel. CR 275-279.  Nor is there any evidence 

of good cause apparent in the record.  And again, Nguyen did not consent 

to a remote hearing.  Moreover, any emergency orders that may have 

permitted the Panel to conduct remote evidentiary hearings due to 

COVID had expired and were not in effect on May 8, 2024, the date of the 

evidentiary hearing here. See Fifty-Ninth Emergency Order Regarding 

the COVID-19 State of Disaster (Misc. Dkt. No. 22-9120); Final General 

Emergency Order Regarding the COVID-19 State of Disaster (Misc. Dkt. 

No. 23-9005) (stating that all COVID-related emergency orders expire 

March 1, 2023).    Thus, conducting the evidentiary hearing remotely was 

unlawful and erroneous.  



 
23 

 

The Supreme Court of the United States has described attorney 

disciplinary proceedings as quasi-criminal in nature.  In re Ruffalo, 390 

U.S. 544, 551-52 (1968).  It is settled that Texas attorneys facing 

disciplinary proceedings have procedural due process protections. Gaia 

Envtl., Inc. v. Galbraith, 451 S.W.3d 398, 409 (Tex. App.—Houston [14th 

Dist.] 2014, pet. denied) (referring to the quasi-criminal context of 

disbarment proceedings).  In the context of constitutional due process 

rights, certain errors are deemed so structural or fundamental that they 

trigger automatic reversal and may be raised for the first time on appeal. 

See e.g. Narasimha v. State, No. 05-15-01410-CR, 2016 Tex. App. LEXIS 

11771, at *7 (Tex. App.—Dallas Oct. 31, 2016, pet. ref'd).  Such errors 

include those that affect the “entire trial process" and result in 

fundamental unfairness, unless affirmatively waived by the complaining 

party. Id.  Likewise, structural error “defies harm analysis because the 

error affects the framework of the trial.” Hernandez v. State, 683 S.W.3d 

586, 592 (Tex. App.—Dallas 2024, no pet.); see Suggs v. Fitch, 64 S.W.3d 

658 (Tex. App.—Texarkana 2001, no pet.) (suggesting that errors 

depriving a party of “absolute or systemic” rights may be raised for first 

time on appeal).  



 
24 

 

It cannot reasonably be disputed that the imposition of a remote 

evidentiary hearing here affected the “entire” hearing process and 

systemically affected Nguyen’s right to a hearing conducted in 

accordance with the controlling rules.  Because the Panel’s decision to 

conduct the hearing remotely was not authorized, it was unlawful and 

erroneous and fundamentally unfair. Although the ultimate effect of 

conducting the hearing in a systemically unlawful and erroneous manner 

cannot be known, it is for that very reason that Nguyen is not required 

to show that the error was harmful. Hernandez v. State, 683 S.W.3d at 

592 (errors affecting the “framework” of the trial defy harm analysis).3  

As a result, such errors trigger automatic reversal. Narasimha, 2016 Tex. 

App. LEXIS 11771, at *7. 

For these reasons, the Panel’s judgment should be reversed and this 

case should be remanded for further proceedings. Id.  

 
3 Although this proceeding is quasi-criminal in nature per the Supreme Court of the 
United States (In re Ruffalo, 390 U.S. at 551-52), there does appear to be a split of 
authority as to whether, under Texas law, the doctrine of structural error applies to 
civil cases. See In re S.A.G., 403 S.W.3d 907, 918 (Tex. App.—Texarkana 2013, pet. 
denied) (J. Carter, concurring) (including a comprehensive discussion of the issue and 
concluding that the Supreme Court of Texas does recognize the doctrine of 
structural error in civil cases). 
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B. The Panel Abused Its Discretion By Arbitrarily Limiting The 
Hearing Of Five Unrelated Complainants And Complaints To 
One Day. 

On the date of the evidentiary hearing, and after it had already 

commenced, the Panel Chairman announced for the first time that the 

hearing would be limited to one day and repeated the admonition 

throughout the hearing. RR 50 (“We are going to get this done today”), 51 

(“we are going to get this done today”), 121 (“it will be completed today 

one way or another”).  Prior thereto, at the outset of the hearing, the 

Panel Chairman compared the proceeding to a hearing on temporary 

orders in a divorce case and attempted to have Nguyen agree in advance 

that the entire proceeding would be completed within four hours. RR 21-

23.  Thereafter, the Chairman repeatedly asserted that Nguyen needed 

to proceed more quickly or that she was wasting time. RR 51, 53, 71, 75, 

103, 112, 119, 121.  And at the end of the hearing, the Chairman 

commented that he believed that the hearing should have been completed 

within two hours. RR 179.   

The Chairman did have the inherent power to control the 

disposition of the hearing “with economy of time and effort for itself, for 

counsel, and for litigants.” Kinney v. Batten, No. 01-21-00394-CV, 2023 
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Tex. App. LEXIS 1389, at *18 (Tex. App.—Houston [1st Dist.] Mar. 2, 

2023, no pet. h.).  However, that inherent power is not unfettered.  It 

must be exercised reasonably, and a party must be given a fair 

opportunity to present her case. Id. (citing Sims v. Brackett, 885 S.W.2d 

450, 455 (Tex. App.—Corpus Christi 1994, writ denied)).  By analogy to 

the role of a trial judge, a panel chairman abuses his discretion when he 

acts in an arbitrary manner. In re Academy, Ltd., 625 S.W.3d 19, 25 (Tex. 

2021). 

The Chairman’s insistence that an evidentiary hearing that 

involved five unrelated grievance complaints filed by five unrelated 

complainants regarding five unrelated matters and that could potentially 

result in disbarment and the loss of Nguyen’s livelihood be completed in 

a single day (much less a few hours) was arbitrary and unreasonable.  No 

explanation was given as to why the hearing could not have proceeded 

beyond one day.  Nor was any explanation given as to why, if the hearing 

could not have proceeded on the following day due to the Panel’s schedule, 

it could not have proceeded on some other date in the future—which in 

civil litigation is not uncommon in trials to the court.  Given the 

anticipated testimony of up to five complainants and other witnesses on 
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five different grievance complaints regarding five different matters, 

arbitrarily limiting the hearing to one day necessarily meant that 

Nguyen could anticipate no more than one hour being allowed for direct 

and cross examination of each witness.  This drove the hearing in a 

manner that, given its seriousness, was unreasonable and calculated to 

lead to an unfair trial. In re Academy, Ltd., 625 S.W.3d at 25.  That is, 

once the Chairman ordered that only one day would be permitted, it 

necessarily impacted how each witness would be examined, including 

what impeachment evidence could be offered. Id.  And while the exclusion 

of any particular questioning may not have dramatically impacted the 

result, taken together it was an unreasonable exercise of discretion that 

likely resulted in an unfair trial. Id. 

For these reasons, too, the Panel’s judgment should be reversed and 

this case should be remanded for further proceedings. 

C. The Panel Abused Its Discretion In Permitting Joinder Of 
Five Unrelated Complainants And Complaints For Trial.  

Nguyen recognizes that the Panel has discretion in matters 

involving joinder of parties or claims, and that its rulings thereon are 

reviewed for abuse of that discretion. Longoria v. Exxon Mobil Corp., No. 

04-15-00536-CV, 2016 Tex. App. LEXIS 7917, at *3 (Tex. App.—San 
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Antonio July 27, 2016, pet. denied) (citing Royal Petroleum Corp. v. 

Dennis, 160 Tex. 392, 332 S.W.2d 313, 317 (Tex. 1960)).  Nevertheless, in 

this instance, it was undisputed that none of the five complainants had 

any relationship with each other, and that none of five grievance 

complaints were related in terms of the evidence relevant to the 

prosecution or defense of the alleged rule violations for each grievance.  

That is, this was not a situation where multiple complainants were 

represented by Nguyen in connection with the same event or occurrence, 

or even series of events or occurrences.  The joinder of the five unrelated 

complainants and complaints for purposes of an evidentiary hearing, 

therefore, was improper and a clear abuse of discretion. Tex. R. Civ. P. 

40(a) (permitting joiner of claims “arising out of the same transaction, 

occurrence, or series of transactions or occurrences and if any question of 

law or fact common to all of them will arise in the action”).  Furthermore, 

even if any two or more of the claimants’ allegations against Nguyen met 

the requirements for joinder in a single action, and they do not, they 

should not have been tried together. Tex. R. Civ. P. 40(b) (permitting a 

court to order separate trials to prevent prejudice arising from the joinder 

of claims).  
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It can hardly be disputed that presenting the complaints of five 

separate and unrelated complainants regarding five separate and 

unrelated matters to the same trier of fact at the same time would be 

likely to have some prejudicial impact—even if only because of the 

tendency to think that it is more likely that Nguyen engaged in 

professional misconduct conduct because five different complainants in 

five different matters complained.  That is exactly why the rules of 

joinder, while permissive, are not unlimited and require some 

evidentiary relationship between claims proposed to be joined or 

consolidated. Tex. R. Civ. P. 40. The likelihood of prejudice and damage 

to a party’s credibility when evidence of claims asserted by party “A” are 

admitted during the trial of claims asserted by party “B” is obvious and 

inherent in the common law doctrine of res inter alios acta, now codified 

under Texas Rules of Evidence 401 through 404. See Oakwood Mobile 

Homes, Inc. v. Cabler, 73 S.W.3d 363, 375 (Tex. App.—El Paso 2002, pet. 

denied).  An obvious example would be a defendant who is alleged by 

three unrelated parties to have negligently caused three unrelated 

accidents.  Trying all three claims together would undoubtedly carry a 

higher risk for the defendant than trying them individually because the 
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trier of fact deciding whether the defendant negligently injured party “A” 

would hear evidence that parties “B” and “C” are alleging that the 

defendant negligently injured them on other occasions.  The potential 

damage to Nguyen’s credibility and defense resulting from the joinder 

and combined evidentiary hearing was understood by the Panel, which 

nevertheless permitted the hearing of all five unrelated complainants 

and complaints together. RR 234 (in response to Nguyen’s statement that 

she had challenged the joint trial of all five complaints because of 

potential damage to her credibility, the Chairman stated “I get that”).   

Even where the allegations are of the same “type” or arise from the 

same general circumstances, they do not satisfy the requirements for 

joinder unless mostly the same evidence will be used to prove the alleged 

violations in each complaint. Id.; see also In re Hochheim Prairie Farm 

Mut. Ins. Ass'n, 296 S.W.3d 907, 912 (Tex. App.—Corpus Christi 2009, 

orig. proceeding). In Hocheim, the court summarized the rule’s 

application as follows in the case of three claimants asserting that an 

insurer had wrongfully denied coverage under their respective insurance 

policies: 
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Although the three claims [regarding the three 
insurance policies] will concern similar issues of 
law and some similar facts, the three claims stem 
from three distinct factual scenarios. Accordingly, 
we agree with relator that the judicial economy 
and convenience that may be gained by trying 
these three claims together is outweighed by the 
dangers of prejudice and confusion on the part of 
the jury. See Duenez, 237 S.W.3d at 693. 
Although the property damage in each of the 
three claims was caused by the same weather 
event, and although each of the claims was 
handled by the same adjuster, other issues for 
each claim must be resolved on their own merits. 
Specifically, the underlying factual situations 
for each of the three claims is unique and 
should therefore be handled separately, 
including whether each claim was covered under 
the insurance policies at issue; the amount of 
damage sustained in each claim; and whether 
Hochheim complied with its policy and 
concomitant legal obligations in the investigation 
and handling of each claim.  

Id. (citing F.F.P. Operating Partners, L.P. v. Duenez, 237 S.W.3d 680, 693 

(Tex. 2007) (emphasis added). 

Similarly, because each of the five complainants here had unique 

factual situations and relationships with Nguyen, and because their 

respective claims arose from completely separate events and 

circumstances, it was a clear abuse of discretion to permit them to be 

joined for purposes of a single evidentiary hearing. Id; Tex. R. Civ. P. 40.   
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 Prior to the hearing, Nguyen raised the issue of improper joinder 

(or “consolidation”)4 of the five unrelated complainants’ allegations for 

trial and asserted that it was not authorized.5 RR R-EX 1, at pp. 1-2.  In 

response, counsel for the CFLD stated that the “consolidation” of the 

complaints was permitted by Texas Rule of Disciplinary Procedure 

2.17(A)(4). Id.; see also RR 256-259.  But that section of Rule 2.17 only 

addresses the contents of the CFLD’s petition. Tex. Disc. R. Proc. 

2.17(A)(4).  It does not negate the requirements for joinder (and 

subsequent trial) of claims under Texas Rule of Civil Procedure 40.  For 

example, Texas Rule of Civil Procedure 48 permits a plaintiff to assert 

“as many separate claims or defenses as he has regardless of 

consistency.” Tex. R. Civ. P. 48.  But Rule 48 does not negate the 

requirements for joinder of claims under Rule 40. Texas Land Drilling 

Co. v. First State Bank & Trust Co. of Port Lavaca, 445 S.W.2d 571, 575 

 
4 Although the term “consolidation” generally refers to an order combining one or 
more already-pending separate suits, in this context it is clear that the parties were 
using it to refer to improper joinder of parties and claims.  
5 At the outset of the hearing, Nguyen again asserted that the five complainants’ 
allegations “are separate and apart. They are different complaints and they are 
different types of 2 cases -- when I say different, I mean different kinds of clients with 
different time frames.” RR 26-27.  Along with her written assertion that the joinder 
did not appear to be permitted by the controlling rules, this reasonably and plainly 
informed the Panel of the asserted error. See e.g. Hyundai Motor Co. v. Vasquez, 189 
S.W.3d 743, 749-50 (Tex. 2006). 
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(Tex. Civ. App.—Corpus Christi 1969, writ ref'd n.r.e.) (addressing the 

requirements for joinder under Rule 40 notwithstanding the application 

of Rule 48).  Equivalently, although Texas Rule of Disciplinary Procedure 

2.17 generally permits the joinder of multiple claims or complaints, it 

should not be construed to negate the application of the joinder 

requirements under Rule 40. See BODA Proc. R. 1.03 (except as otherwise 

stated, the Texas Rules of Civil Procedure apply to these proceedings).   

Because the joinder or “consolidation” of five unrelated grievance 

complaints filed by five unrelated complainants regarding five unrelated 

matters was improper under Rule 40, the Panel had no discretion to 

permit it.  And for the very reason that the Rule 40 requirements exist, 

the joinder of five unrelated complainants and complaints for purposes of 

an evidentiary hearing was prejudicial to Nguyen and “was reasonably 

calculated to cause and probably did cause the rendition of an improper 

judgment.” Lorusso v. Members Mut. Ins. Co., 603 S.W.2d 818, 820-21 

(Tex. 1980) (addressing harmful error analysis generally). 

These are yet additional reasons that the Panel’s judgment should 

be reversed and this case should be remanded for further proceedings. 

Tex. R. Civ. P. 40; Hochheim, 296 S.W.3d at 912.  
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D. The Cumulative Errors By The Panel Resulted In An Unfair 
Hearing. 

To the extent that the Panel’s conducting an unlawful remote 

evidentiary hearing independently did not constitute reversible error; 

and to the extent that the Panel’s arbitrarily imposing an unreasonably 

short time limit on the evidentiary hearing independently did not 

constitute reversible error; and to the extent that the Panel’s improperly 

joining five unrelated complainants and complaints for a single trial 

independently did not constitute reversible error, the cumulative effect 

of these errors entitles Nguyen to reversal. 

When several errors exist but are not each considered 

independently reversible, all errors considered together may still present 

cumulative error requiring reversal. Lakeside Village Homeowners 

Association, Inc. v. Belanger, 545 S.W.3d 15, 46-47 (Tex. App.—El Paso 

2017, pet. denied) (citing Fibreboard Corp. v. Pool, 813 S.W.2d 658, 695-

96 (Tex. App.—Texarkana, writ denied); Klein v. Sporting Goods, Inc., 

772 S.W.2d 173, 179 (Tex. App.—Houston [14th Dist.] 1989, writ denied).  

To determine whether a cumulation of errors denied Nguyen her right to 

due process and a fair proceeding, or otherwise constituted reversible 

error, all errors in the case should be considered in conjunction with the 
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record as a whole to determine whether the errors—collectively—were 

calculated to cause and probably did cause the rendition of an improper 

judgment. Id. (citing Pool, 813 S.W.2d at 695-96).  

The cumulative error doctrine is particularly applicable here 

because of the inherent interrelation of the Panel’s imposition of an 

arbitrary and short time limit on the evidentiary hearing after 

erroneously permitting the improper joinder and trial of five unrelated 

complainants and complaints. For example, even if the arbitrary 

imposition of a one-day time limit for the hearing of a single complaint 

would not constitute reversible error, when compounded by the joinder of 

four additional and unrelated complainants and complaints requiring 

different and additional evidence to prosecute and defend, the resulting 

error and likelihood of harm becomes substantial and probable. Lakeside, 

545 S.W.3d at 46-47.  

The cumulative effect of the Panel’s multiple errors were calculated 

to cause and probably did cause an unfair evidentiary hearing and the 

rendition improper judgment.  Thus, the Panel’s judgment should be 

reversed and this case should be remanded for further proceedings. 

Lakeside, 545 S.W.3d at 46-47. 
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E. The Panel Abused Its Discretion By Imposing Excessive 
Sanctions. 

The Panel abused its discretion by imposing the sanction of 

disbarment based on the findings made and in light of Nguyen’s 

relatively minor disciplinary history.  The only Disciplinary Rules the 

Panel found that Nguyen violated are Rule 1.01(b)(1) & (2) (competent 

representation), Rule 1.03(a) (communication), and Rule 8.04(a)(8) 

(failure to timely file a response to a grievance complaint).6 CR 219, 235.  

The complaints against Nguyen did not include any allegations with 

respect to which disbarment is typically associated.  There was no finding 

that Nguyen stole or mishandled client funds.  There was no finding that 

Nguyen falsified evidence or committed perjury. There was no finding 

that Nguyen committed barratry or was convicted of a crime. Without 

minimizing the seriousness of the findings made by the Panel, the 

character of the violations must be taken into account in determining the 

appropriateness of disbarment.   

Indeed, a review of the case law reveals that the “death penalty” 

sanction of disbarment has generally been reserved for those truly 

 
6 Including those Rules’ respective subparts. 
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egregious cases of ethical misconduct.  See e.g. Searcy v. State Bar, 604 

S.W.2d 256, 257 (Tex. Civ. App.—San Antonio 1980, writ ref’d n.r.e.) 

(felony conviction involving moral turpitude which resulted in two-year 

sentence at federal prison); Steere v. State, 445 S.W.2d 253, 254-55 (Tex. 

Civ. App.—Houston [1st Dist.] 1969, writ dism’d) (attorney forged names 

on legal instrument, communicated with someone represented by 

another attorney, made false representations of fact in soliciting 

employment, used client’s confidences in a divorce suit to personal 

advantage, filed three instruments in which he did not do any work and 

in which he split fees with another lawyer); Hicks v. State, 422 S.W.2d 

539, 539-42 (Tex. Civ. App.—Houston [14th Dist.] 1967, writ ref’d n.r.e.) 

(attorney took clients’ money without filing suit, falsely told them he had 

filed suit, gave improper advice to client in divorce suit, filed suit but 

never issued citation resulting in limitations bar on claim, failed to 

return client’s money); Ashby v. State, 283 S.W.2d 270, 271 (Tex. Civ. 

App.—Dallas 1955, no writ) (attorney knowingly made a false affidavit 

and possessed stolen property). 

And there are numerous reported cases in which the misconduct 

found against the attorney was much more egregious than was found 
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against Nguyen, but in which substantially less onerous sanctions were 

ordered.  See, e.g., Musselwhite v. State Bar of Texas, 786 S.W.2d 437, 439 

(Tex. App.—Houston [14th Dist.] 1990, writ denied) (attorney, on 

probation for prior ethical misconduct, knowingly violated terms of 

probation by soliciting victims of the Piper Alpha tragedy in Scotland and 

accepted new employment in an Agent Orange case when prohibited from 

doing so – three years’ suspension); Hebison v. State, 615 S.W.2d 866, 867 

(Tex. Civ. App.—Houston [1st Dist.] 1981, no writ) (attorney lied to two 

separate clients, told them suit was filed when it was not, which resulted 

in a limitations bar on the claims, refused to return either the clients’ 

money or their files until the grievance was filed – three months’ 

suspension); Howell v. State, 559 S.W.2d 432, 433-34 (Tex. Civ. App.—

Tyler 1977, writ ref’d n.r.e.) (attorney filed suit when attorney knew there 

was another case pending, which he did not tell the judge at contempt 

hearing, and he refused to answer a question when ordered to answer by 

the judge – reprimand); and Archer v. State, 548 S.W.2d 71, 73 (Tex. Civ. 

App.—El Paso 1977, writ ref’d n.r.e.) (attorney deposited client funds in 

his own account for his own use and attempted to get client to sign a false 

affidavit – two years’ suspension).  
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Still other such cases include State v. Baker, 539 S.W.2d 367, 369 

(Tex. Civ. App.—Austin 1976, writ ref’d n.r.e.), appeal after remand, 559 

S.W. 145 (Tex. Civ. App.—Austin 1976, writ ref’d n.r.e) (attorney 

purchased property on behalf of client at sheriff’s sale and used that 

property for himself and committed two other ethical violations – three 

reprimands); Galindo v. State, 535 S.W.2d 923, 925 (Tex. Civ. App.—

Corpus Christi 1976, no writ) (attorney misapplied and commingled 

client’s funds and lied under oath to the grievance committee – one year’s 

suspension); State v. Ingram, 511 S.W.2d 252, 252-53 (Tex. 1974) 

(attorney misappropriated client’s funds and lied under oath to the 

grievance committee – three years’ suspension); and State v. Pevehouse, 

483 S.W.2d 565, 565-66 (Tex. Civ. App.—Eastland 1972, writ ref’d n.r.e.) 

(attorney embezzled $2,500 of client’s funds – one year’s suspension). 

Furthermore, although the Panel recited that “[t]he sanction of 

disbarment set forth in the Judgment of Disbarment was found with 

respect to each individual violation set forth in [the] Findings of 

Fact…and was not the result of aggregating or combining any of the 

violations,” it frankly strains credulity, for example, that the Panel 

determined that disbarment was the appropriate sanction for a finding 
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that Nguyen failed to adequately communicate with Lau, who Nguyen is 

still representing and who wants Nguyen to continue to represent her.7 

RR 65-68.  It likewise strains credulity that the Panel determined that 

disbarment was the appropriate sanction for a finding that Nguyen failed 

to timely file a response to Nasra’s grievance complaint, which was the 

only misconduct found with respect to Nasra. CR 219, 278.  And if the 

Panel did determine that disbarment was the appropriate sanction for 

each of those findings as the judgment states, then it calls into question 

the fairness of all of the Panel’s determinations with respect to the 

sanctions imposed on Nguyen.   

The Panel’s recitation of other aggravating factors in its findings is 

entirely conclusory, amounting to nothing more than the list of potential 

aggravating factors that the Texas Rules of Disciplinary Procedure say 

may be considered. CR 278 (reciting e.g. “dishonest or selfish 

motive…submission of false evidence; false statements or other deceptive 

practices during the disciplinary process”).  Indeed, the Panel did not 

even state whether it found that Nguyen made any false statements or 

 
7 CR 278.   
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that she engaged in other deceptive practices, much less what the 

generically recited statements or practices were. Id.  

Prior to the Panel’s judgment, Nguyen’s only disciplinary history 

consisted of two private reprimands.  Facially, the disbarment of Nguyen 

for the misconduct found by the Panel was inappropriate given the 

evidence presented. Even the CFLD’s counsel recognized that 

disbarment was a big “jump” from a private reprimand—the only 

discipline previously enforced against Nguyen—and that a suspension or 

partially probated suspension “would be appropriate or I think will be 

acceptable.” RR 268.   

A lawyer who is disbarred loses her livelihood, reputation, and 

professional identity.  It was error and an abuse of discretion to impose 

disbarment on Nguyen based on the findings made by the Panel, 

especially where the Panel made no finding that a lesser sanction such 

as suspension or probated suspension would not have been adequate to 

address the complaints being considered. 

For these reasons, the judgment should be reversed and this case 

should be remanded for further proceedings or, alternatively, the Board 
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should reverse and render the judgment that should have been rendered 

by the Panel.  

Conclusion 

Nguyen respectfully requests the Board to reverse the judgment of 

the Panel and to remand this case for a new hearing or hearings or, 

alternatively, to render the judgment that should have been rendered by 

the Panel.  Nguyen requests any other, further, or alternative relief, legal 

or equitable, to which she may be justly entitled. 

Respectfully submitted, 
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Stephen R. Bailey 
Texas Bar No. 01536660 
sbailey@spcounsel.com 
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Appendix Tab 1: Cited Reporter’s Record Excerpts 
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